RECEIVED

FEB - 5 2015

S.C. Supreme Court

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM YORK COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Lee S. Alford, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2012-205909

JAMES ROBERTSON *Petitioner*

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA *Respondent*

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

KEIR M. WEYBLE
SC Bar No. 12075
Cornell Law School
158-B Myron Taylor Hall
Ithaca, NY 14853
607 255 3805

EMILY PAAVOLA
SC Bar No. 77855
Death Penalty Resource & Defense Center
900 Elmwood Avenue, Suite 101
Columbia, SC 29201
803 765 1044

Counsel for Petitioner

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

WHETHER, IN LIGHT OF *MARTINEZ V. RYAN*, 132 S.Ct. 1309 (2012), AND THE PAST TREATMENT OF SIMILARLY SITUATED SOUTH CAROLINA PRISONERS, ROBERTSON SHOULD BE PERMITTED TO PROCEED WITH A SECOND-IN-TIME APPLICATION FOR POST-CONVICTION RELIEF ASSERTING COLORABLE CLAIMS OF INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF TRIAL COUNSEL THAT PRIOR PCR COUNSEL INEFFECTIVELY FAILED TO INVESTIGATE OR PRESENT?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case concerns the role of the South Carolina state courts in collateral review of challenges to criminal judgments asserting violations of the Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of trial counsel. Historically, South Carolina state post-conviction relief proceedings have served as the “main event” for such claims, whether or not counsel appointed to assist the prisoner in those proceedings performed adequately. Where post-conviction counsel’s performance was inadequate – *e.g.*, by failing to discover or properly assert colorable ineffective assistance of trial counsel claims – the resulting mistakes or omissions were charged to the prisoners themselves, and led to procedural bars that ordinarily prevented merits review, either in a second state PCR proceeding, or in federal habeas proceedings.

Martinez v. Ryan, 132 S.Ct. 1309 (2012), changed that arrangement, by recognizing the indispensability of adequate representation in state collateral review, and by providing that prisoners who did not receive such representation in state post-conviction proceedings may nevertheless establish a right to *de novo* merits review in federal court. Importantly, however, *Martinez* also acknowledged that this new approach could intrude upon state interests (*e.g.*, by causing forfeiture of state court control over fact-development mechanisms, and by rendering inapplicable the highly deferential rules for federal review of state court merits adjudications), and left the door open for state

courts to avoid such intrusions by providing their own remedy for inadequate assistance of post-conviction counsel. The question in this case is whether South Carolina courts will offer such a remedy, and in so doing maintain their primacy in the litigation of ineffective assistance of trial counsel claims, or decline *Martinez*'s invitation, and cede control over that litigation to the federal courts.

In the sections that follow, petitioner, Jimmy Robertson, will begin by describing the relevant history of his own post-conviction litigation, which well illustrates the problem addressed in *Martinez*. He will then discuss the origin and operation of the *Martinez* rule, and the implications of that rule for both state and federal collateral review. Finally, Robertson will explain why South Carolina should respond to *Martinez* by permitting subsequent state post-conviction proceedings where prior counsel's performance was inadequate, and why the inadequacy of his own prior post-conviction counsel requires that this case be remanded for development and consideration of his previously undeveloped ineffective assistance of trial counsel claims.

* * *

Robertson was convicted and sentenced to death in the York County Court of General Sessions in March, 1999. Following the dismissal of his direct appeal, he sought post-conviction relief. Pursuant to the Uniform Post-Conviction Procedure Act, Robertson was entitled to appointment of qualified counsel to assist in the identification, development and litigation of PCR challenges to his convictions and sentences. S.C. Code Ann. § 17-27-160(B). The Act requires that at least one attorney "must have previously represented a death-sentenced inmate in state or federal post-conviction relief proceedings or (1) must meet the minimum qualifications set forth in Section 16-3-26(B) and Section 16-3-26(F) and (2) have successfully completed, within the previous two

years, not less than twelve hours of South Carolina Bar approved continuing legal education or professional training primarily involving advocacy in the field of capital appellate and/or post-conviction defense.” *Id.*

On September 22, 2005, Judge John C. Few filed an order appointing counsel to represent Robertson in his capital PCR proceedings. That order stated, in full:

The defendant contends that he is indigent and in need of services of an attorney as contemplated by law. THEREFORE, MICHAEL BROWN, Attorney-at-Law, is appointed as Counsel for the Defendant.

App. 4517. The order did not address whether Brown was qualified under § 17-27-160(B). A second attorney, Joseph David Matlock, later appeared with Brown at Robertson’s PCR hearing. There is no record of Matlock’s appointment, nor does the record made in connection with Robertson’s initial PCR proceedings contain any indication that either Brown or Matlock actually met the statutory criteria for appointment in a capital PCR case.

In March 2006, approximately six months after appointment, counsel filed a PCR application on Robertson’s behalf. App. 3244-3251. The sum total of the allegations contained in the application was, “Ineffective assistance of counsel – specifics to be amended later.” App. 3246. By the time of the evidentiary hearing in January, 2007, no amended application had been filed and no “specifics” had been alleged. In response to questioning by the PCR judge about the claims they intended to pursue at the hearing, counsel mentioned approximately a dozen theories under which Robertson’s trial lawyers may have been ineffective. *See* App. 3268-69. At the evidentiary hearing, counsel called three witnesses: Robertson; trial attorney James Hancock, and trial attorney James Boyd. App. 3276-3329 (Robertson); App. 3329-3455 (Hancock); App. 3494-3559 (Boyd). Nothing in the PCR record or other available documentation suggests that Robertson’s initial PCR counsel performed any

independent investigation to determine the existence of grounds for relief based on evidence outside the trial record. Judge Few denied post-conviction relief in a written order dated March 7, 2008. This Court denied certiorari on October 6, 2010.

On November 9, 2010, the United States District Court for the District of South Carolina appointed new counsel – including undersigned attorneys Weyble and Paavola – to represent Robertson in federal habeas corpus proceedings pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3599. Based on a review of the available case materials, counsel identified a significant number of viable claims for relief which had not been developed or asserted by Robertson’s state post-conviction counsel,¹ and were therefore not yet ripe – because they had not been “exhausted” in state court, *see* 28 U.S.C. § 2254(b) – for consideration by the federal district court. To preserve Robertson’s ability to develop and eventually secure review of those grounds, counsel prepared and filed two submissions: a federal habeas corpus petition raising both Robertson’s previously litigated (and therefore exhausted) claims, and the newly identified (and therefore unexhausted) claims, *see* App. 3820; and a second-in-time state PCR application raising the newly identified claims, *see* App. 3847.² The federal district court subsequently stayed the federal habeas case pursuant to *Rhines v. Weber*, 544 U.S. 269 (2005); that stay remains in effect as of the filing of this brief.

The second-in-time PCR application was assigned to Circuit Judge Alford, who appointed

¹The claims identified at that stage were merely those evident from a review of the existing record. Because, as described below, Robertson has never been afforded the essential combination of qualified post-conviction counsel *and* access to fact-development mechanisms, additional grounds for relief remain to be discovered, either on remand to a state PCR court, or in a federal habeas corpus proceeding.

²Due to the limited scope of their federal appointment, counsel prepared and filed the second-in-time PCR application *pro bono*, and without the aid of investigative or expert services.

undersigned counsel to represent Robertson at a brief hearing in July, 2011, and directed that he file a response to respondent's motion to dismiss and an amended application within three weeks. App. 4198. Robertson complied, submitting both an amended set of allegations and a separate pleading contending, *inter alia*, that the application should either be permitted to proceed, as had similar cases in recent years, along the ordinary course through fact development, evidentiary hearing, and merits adjudication, or be held in abeyance pending the forthcoming decisions in *Maples v. Thomas*, 131 S.Ct. 1718 (Mar. 21, 2011) (order granting certiorari), and *Martinez v. Ryan*, 131 S.Ct. 2960 (June 6, 2011) (order granting certiorari). See App. 4208-24.

Less than two months later, the PCR court signed respondent's proposed order summarily dismissing the case on a variety of grounds including: that the application was impermissibly successive; that, as matters of fact, prior PCR counsel performed competently and one of them was qualified; that Robertson waived his right to competent PCR counsel by failing to contemporaneously object; that the application was untimely; and that Robertson's failure to personally order the now-unavailable transcript of an earlier court proceeding implicated the laches doctrine. See App. 4412-47. The order also maintained that the *Maples* and *Martinez* decisions were unlikely to affect the issues in this case, see App. 4444-46, and implied that Robertson's newly appointed counsel – who had been afforded no access to fact development resources while the court considered whether to allow the case to proceed – had somehow been dilatory in failing to fund an investigation on their own, see App. 4439.

Robertson timely moved to alter or amend the judgment. Among other arguments, he objected to the court's resolution of highly material and hotly disputed factual issues concerning the qualifications and performance of initial PCR counsel without a hearing. See App. 4448-51. To that

end, Robertson explained that the obvious conflict in the parties' positions on those issues required a hearing under settled rules of state and federal law, and attached sworn affidavits confirming that neither of his initial PCR counsel met the statutory criteria for qualification to handle a capital case. *See* App. 4448-51; 4456-58; 4468; 4472.³ He also reiterated that the summary dismissal of his application was inconsistent with the treatment of other, similarly situated capital cases, *see* App. 4453-56, and objected both to the court's mischaracterization of the timeliness question as governed by S.C. Code § 17-27-45(C) rather than the principles articulated in *Odom v. State*, 337 S.C. 256, 263, 523 S.E.2d 753, 756 (1999), *see* App. 4461, and to its suggestion that current counsel should have been funding a PCR investigation from their own pockets, *see* App. 4450. On November 28, 2011, the court entered an order denying the motion to alter or amend the prior judgment without addressing most of the issues raised. *See* Supp. App. 3-7.

Approximately four months after the Circuit Court's final order, the Supreme Court decided *Martinez*.⁴ As discussed more fully *infra*, *Martinez* acknowledged the indispensability of adequate post-conviction representation in connection with ineffective assistance of trial counsel claims, and made clear that if state courts do not provide that representation, federal habeas courts will no longer punish prisoners – like Robertson – for poorly counseled mistakes committed during state collateral proceedings. Relying on *Martinez*, as well as pre-existing South Carolina precedent, Robertson petitioned for certiorari. This Court granted the petition on September 24, 2014.

³Robertson later supplemented the record with a copy of this Court's October 24, 2011, Public Reprimand of Michael Brown for professional misconduct related to substance abuse that coincided with his service as lead counsel in the initial PCR proceedings in this case. App. 4474-80.

⁴At the time *Martinez* was decided, Robertson's time for pursuing discretionary review in this Court was being held in abeyance due to the pendency of the State's Motion to Dismiss his Notice of Appeal.

ARGUMENT

I. **MARTINEZ CHANGED THE RULES FOR THE LITIGATION OF SIXTH AMENDMENT INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF TRIAL COUNSEL CLAIMS, AND THOSE CHANGES WILL IMPACT THE TREATMENT OF SOUTH CAROLINA CASES IN FEDERAL COURT, STATE COURT, OR BOTH.**

A. **Law and practice prior to *Martinez*.**

Collateral review of state criminal judgments involves two distinct but closely connected phases: state post-conviction review conducted by state courts pursuant to state-created procedures; and federal habeas review conducted by federal courts under rules made by Congress and the Supreme Court of the United States. *See, e.g.*, S.C. Code § 17-27-20 *et. seq.*; 28 U.S.C. §§ 2241; 2254. Because both phases of review require examination of the same underlying claims of error – *e.g.*, ineffective assistance of trial counsel in violation of the Sixth Amendment – it is inevitable that state post-conviction courts’ rulings adverse to prisoners are scrutinized, and sometimes overturned, in the federal habeas proceedings that follow. *See, e.g., Wainwright v. Sykes*, 433 U.S. 72, 80 (1977) (quoting *Brown v. Allen*, 344 U.S. 443, 458 (1953)) (explaining that a state court judgment “‘is not *res judicata*’” in a federal habeas proceeding). This arrangement presents obvious federalism concerns, as the federal courts’ imperative to remedy constitutional error in habeas often collides with the states’ interests in exercising their sovereign power to convict and punish, and in securing the finality of their own hard-won judgments. *See, e.g., Coleman v. Thompson*, 501 U.S. 722, 747-48 (1991); *Engle v. Isaac*, 456 U.S. 107, 127-28 (1982).

Striking the appropriate balance between maintaining respect for state court judgments on one hand, and safeguarding the right of individual prisoners to federal habeas review on the other, has received detailed attention from the Supreme Court throughout the history of modern collateral

review. After a relatively brief period during which state interests were subjugated, *see, e.g., Brown v. Allen, supra; Fay v. Noia*, 372 U.S. 391 (1963), the Court began a systematic, decades-long campaign to restore the relevance of state court judgments, and to make state courts the “primary forum for the adjudication of claims of even federal error in state criminal proceedings.”⁵ *McKaskle v. Vela*, 464 U.S. 1053, 1056 (1984) (O’Connor, J., dissenting from denial of certiorari).⁶ Over time this federalism- and comity-driven effort produced a framework of rules governing federal habeas review that is calibrated to require respectful – and, at times, deferential – treatment of state court judgments in direct proportion to the fullness, fairness, and reliability of the processes afforded to prisoners by the state courts themselves.⁷

Historically, South Carolina’s post-conviction review scheme has produced judgments that qualify for the procedural advantages available under federal habeas law. For example, because the state system typically offers prisoners reasonable opportunities to develop and present evidence to

⁵Congress joined the effort with passage of the Antiterrorism and Effective Death Penalty Act of 1996 (AEDPA), which featured a nearly comprehensive set of revisions and additions to the already well-developed body of decisional law governing federal habeas review of state court judgments. *See* 28 U.S.C. §§ 2244; 2253; 2254; 2261-66.

⁶*See also, e.g., Sykes*, 433 U.S. at 90 (predicting that adoption of procedural default rule would “have the salutary effect of making the state trial on the merits the ‘main event,’ so to speak, rather than a ‘tryout on the road’ for what will later be the determinative federal habeas hearing”); *Rose v. Lundy*, 455 U.S. 509, 518-19 (1982); *Duckworth v. Serrano*, 454 U.S. 1, 3 (1981) (per curiam).

⁷*See, e.g., Sykes, supra* (requiring federal enforcement of state procedural bars so long as they rest on adequate and independent state law grounds); 28 U.S.C. § 2254(d) (forbidding grant of federal habeas relief on claim previously adjudicated on the merits by a state court, unless the state court decision is judged defective in one or more ways enumerated in subdivisions (d)(1) and (d)(2)); (*Michael*) *Williams v. Taylor*, 529 U.S. 420 (2000) (construing 28 U.S.C. § 2254(e)(2) to forbid a federal evidentiary hearing if the prisoner failed to take advantage of an available opportunity for fact development in state court).

support their claims for relief, the federal courts have had no occasion – or authority, *see* 28 U.S.C. § 2254(e)(2) – to hold their own evidentiary hearings in South Carolina cases. As a result, South Carolina judges, not federal judges, have controlled the power to make factual findings, and those findings have been subject to a statutory presumption of correctness in subsequent federal habeas proceedings.⁸ *See* 28 U.S.C. § 2254(e)(1). Similarly, because South Carolina post-conviction relief courts regularly reach and adjudicate the merits of prisoners’ claims for relief, and do so in written orders eligible for discretionary appellate review by this Court, the federal courts ordinarily have no authority to grant habeas relief based on mere disagreement with the result reached in state court. *See* 28 U.S.C. § 2254(d); (*Terry*) *Williams v. Taylor*, 529 U.S. 362, 411 (2000). Instead, § 2254(d) “erects a formidable barrier to federal habeas relief for prisoners whose claims have been adjudicated in state court,” and “requires ‘a state prisoner [to] show that the state court’s ruling on the claim ... was so lacking in justification that there was an error ... beyond any possibility for fairminded disagreement.’” *Burt v. Titlow*, 134 S.Ct. 10, 16 (2013) (quoting *Harrington v. Richter*, 562 U.S. ___, 131 S.Ct. 770, 786-87 (2011)); *see also Woodford v. Visciotti*, 537 U.S. 19, 24 (2002) (per curiam) (characterizing 28 U.S.C. § 2254(d) as a “highly deferential standard for evaluating state-court

⁸This power is substantial and often dispositive in federal habeas proceedings, as the statutory presumption of correctness applicable to state court factual findings prevents federal courts from drawing or acting upon their own conclusions about the evidence. *See, e.g., Ivey v. Ozmint*, 304 Fed. App’x 144, 148 (4th Cir. 2008) (stating “the question of Young’s impartiality is a question of fact and the state court’s determination of that issue is entitled to the § 2254(e)(1) statutory presumption of correctness,” and affirming district court’s denial of habeas relief); *Wilson v. Moore*, 178 F.3d 266, 280 (4th Cir. 1999) (observing that South Carolina state court’s factual finding that applicant was informed of dangers of counsel representing co-defendants was “presumptively correct” and upholding district court’s denial of habeas relief). Indeed, the consequences of that presumption have been a driving force behind South Carolina prisoners’ objections to the practice of permitting counsel for the State to draft orders denying post-conviction relief. *See Hall v. Catoe*, 360 S.C. 353, 364-65, 601 S.E.2d 335, 341 (2004).

rulings, which demands that state-court decisions be given the benefit of the doubt”).

South Carolina practice has also been consistent with federal law with respect to claims *not* presented to and adjudicated by the state courts in a prisoner’s first application for post-conviction relief. *See* S.C. Code § 17-27-90. At least since *Wainwright v. Sykes*, *supra*, federal courts have been obligated to respect a state court’s refusal to consider a prisoner’s attempt to pursue a second round of state post-conviction review. And at least since *Coleman v. Thompson*, *supra*, that obligation held even where the prisoner’s failure to assert a claim (either properly or at all) in state court was plainly attributable to post-conviction counsel’s own mistake. *See Coleman*, 501 U.S. at 752; *see also Murray v. Giarratano*, 492 U.S. 1 (1989) (declining to recognize right to appointment of post-conviction counsel in capital cases); *Pennsylvania v. Finley*, 481 U.S. 551, 555 (1987) (declining to recognize right to appointment of post-conviction counsel in non-capital cases). Thus, although South Carolina has not always uniformly forbidden second or subsequent applications for post-conviction relief, it has generally had the option of doing so safe in the knowledge that, absent truly unusual circumstances, a federal court would respect and enforce that decision as a valid procedural bar to merits review in a habeas proceeding.⁹

B. Changes made by *Martinez*.

As framed by the Supreme Court itself, *Martinez* presented the question “whether a federal

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