THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

JUN 11 2015

Appeal From York County
The Honorable Lee S. Alford, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate case No. 2012-205909

S.C. Supreme Court

JAMES D. ROBERTSON, #5067,

Petitioner,

vs.

THE STATE,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOHN W. McINTOSH
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Sr. Assistant Deputy Attorney General

WILLIAM EDGAR SALTER, III
Senior Assistant Attorney General

P. O. Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-6305

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT.

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

new because state courts remain the primary forum for the litigation of ineffective assistance claims when a claim is procedurally defaulted, either under the “independent and adequate state law” doctrine, see *Coleman*, 501 U.S. at 729-30, 111 S.Ct. 2546, or – as with the claims in Robertson’s 2011 Application – by the inmates failure to fairly present the claim to the state courts, so that they have the first opportunity to decide the issue.

The Supreme Court has long stated that its “procedural default doctrine and its attendant ‘cause and prejudice’ standard are grounded in comity and federalism concerns.” *Edwards v. Carpenter*, 529 U.S. 446, 451, 120 S.Ct. 1587, 1591 (2000) (citing *Coleman*, 501 U.S. at 730, 111 S.Ct. 2546); see also *Coleman*, 501 U.S. at 726, 111 S.Ct. 2546 (“This is a case about federalism. It concerns the respect that federal courts owe the States and the States’ procedural rules when reviewing the claims of state prisoners in federal habeas corpus”); *McCleskey v. Zant*, 499 U.S. 467, 493, 111 S.Ct. 1454 (1991) (“[T]he doctrines of procedural default and abuse of the writ are both designed to lessen the injury to a State that results through reexamination of a state conviction on a ground that the State did not have the opportunity to address at a prior, appropriate time; and both doctrines seek to vindicate the State’s interest in the finality of its criminal judgments”); *Murray v. Carrier*, 477 U.S. 478, 518, 106 S.Ct. 2678 (1986) (“Despite the existence of federal power to entertain a habeas petition in the face of a procedural default, the Court in [*Fay v. Noia*, 372 U.S. 391, 83 S.Ct. 822 (1963)] acknowledged “a limited discretion” in the federal court to refuse to exercise its jurisdiction on behalf of “an applicant who has deliberately by-passed the orderly procedure of the state courts and in doing so has forfeited his state court remedies.” ... This exception was recognized “[a]s a matter of comity ... in order to accord state courts and state procedures the respect due them in a federal system”) (citation omitted and emphasis in original).

If this Court adopts a rule permitting hearings on successive applications asserting the

claims presented therein were not raised in the original PCR hearing because of the ineffectiveness of collateral counsel, the claims would be litigated in federal court through the deferential merits review of § 2254(d). However, if this Court adheres to *Aice* and its progeny, then the claims will only be litigated in federal court through the framework of procedural default analysis. See *Martinez; Coleman*, 501 U.S. at 749-50.²⁰

In other words, before the federal courts can review the merits of his procedurally defaulted ineffective assistance of trial counsel claims, he must first meet the standard set forth in *Martinez*,²¹ which is hardly a given in this or any other case. In particular, to establish that PCR Counsel provided ineffective assistance of counsel, Robertson must prove that: (1) his counsel's performance “fell below an objective standard of reasonableness,” and (2) he was prejudiced by his counsel's deficient performance. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 687-88, 104 S.Ct. 2052. There is “a strong presumption that counsel's conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance.” *Id.* at 689, 104 S.Ct. 2052. To establish prejudice, Robertson must demonstrate a “reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.” *Id.* at 694, 104 S.Ct. 2052.

²⁰ In this regard, he would be like the scores of other inmates who raise claims in federal court that have not been previously litigated in state court proceedings because *Martinez* is not limited to capital cases. Moreover, the rule barring successive applications alleging ineffective assistance of prior PCR counsel is not the only context in which this Court gives federal courts the first opportunity to have first review of constitutional issues. Federal courts already have the first chance to review the pretrial denials of double jeopardy motions when the defendant has not been sentenced, in light of *State v. Miller*, 289 S.C. 426, 426-27, 346 S.E.2d 705, 706 (1986), where this Court held that “an order denying a double jeopardy claim is not immediately appealable” because “a criminal defendant may not appeal until sentence has been imposed.” See *Livingston v. Murdaugh*, 183 F.3d 300, 301-02 (4th Cir. 1999).

²¹ The federal habeas courts cannot address the four claims of trial court error [Grounds 10 & 11(c)-(f)] and three claims of ineffective assistance of appellate counsel [Grounds 10 & 11(g)(i)-(iii) (**App. 3848-49**)] that he has procedurally defaulted, unless he can demonstrate both cause for the procedural default and prejudice as a result of the alleged constitutional violation, or that failure to review the constitutional claim will result in a fundamental miscarriage of justice. See *Coleman*, 501 U.S. at 749-50, 104 S.Ct. 2052. Again, the “narrow” or “limited exception” recognized in *Martinez* has no application on these claims.

Thus, “the Court must conclude that the ineffective-assistance-of-trial-counsel claim would have won Petitioner a new trial at the state court level.” *Martinez v. Schriro*, No. CV 08–785–PHX–JAT, 2012 WL 5936566, at *2 (D.Ariz. Nov.27, 2012); *see also Preyor v. Stephens*, 537 Fed. App'x 412, 421 (5th Cir. 2013) (“To establish ineffective assistance of his initial state habeas counsel, [Petitioner] must show both that habeas counsel's performance ... was deficient and that he was prejudiced by the deficient performance—that is, there is a reasonable probability that he would have been granted state habeas relief had the claims been presented in the first state habeas application.”); *Foley v. White*, No. 6:00–CV–552–DCR–REW, 2012 WL 6965070, at *9 (E.D.Ky. Nov.15, 2012) (quoting *Leavitt v. Arave*, No. 1:93–cv–0024–BLW, 2012 WL 1995091, at *10 (D.Idaho June 1, 2012)) (“In the context of *Martinez*, a demonstration of prejudice would require [Petitioner] to show that, but for post-conviction counsel's errors, there is a reasonable probability he ‘would have received relief on a claim of ineffective assistance of trial counsel in state court.’ ”), *Horonzy v. Smith*, No. 1:11–cv–00235–EJL, 2012 WL 4017927, at *6 (D.Idaho Sept.12, 2012) (“The application of the *Strickland* test in this instance means that Petitioner is required to show that counsel's representation during the post-conviction proceeding was objectively unreasonable, and that, but for his errors, there is a reasonable probability that Petitioner would have received relief on a claim of ineffective assistance of trial counsel in the state post-conviction matter. This standard is a high one.”).

This requires Robertson to show more than the mere fact collateral counsel failed to raise potentially meritorious claims. He must show that no competent counsel, in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment, would have omitted those claims. *Hittson v. GDCP Warden*, 759 F.3d 1210 (11th Cir. 2014). As the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals explained in *Hittson*:

To establish cause under *Martinez*, Hittson must demonstrate that state habeas

counsel were themselves ineffective for failing to raise the four claims in his second amended § 2254 petition. This is a somewhat familiar inquiry, as petitioners have long been able to claim ineffective assistance of trial or appellate counsel to establish cause to excuse a procedural default caused by their trial or appellate counsel. *See Murray v. Carrier*, 477 U.S. 478, 488, 106 S.Ct. 2639, 2645, 91 L.Ed.2d 397 (1986). As the Supreme Court has explained in that context, “[n]ot just any deficiency in counsel's performance will do ... the assistance must have been so ineffective as to violate the Federal Constitution.” *Edwards v. Carpenter*, 529 U.S. 446, 451, 120 S.Ct. 1587, 1591, 146 L.Ed.2d 518 (2000) (citation omitted). While *Martinez* did not establish a constitutional right to counsel in state post-conviction proceedings, it did adopt the constitutional standard from *Strickland* as the standard governing petitioners' claims that their post-conviction counsel's conduct should excuse a procedural default. *See Martinez*, — U.S. at —, 132 S.Ct. at 1318.

Accordingly, Hittson must establish that his habeas counsel's conduct “fell below an objective standard of reasonableness,” and that, “but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.” *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 688, 694, 104 S.Ct. at 2064, 2068. Obviously the merits of the underlying ineffective-assistance claims have some bearing on both *Strickland* prongs; collateral counsel would clearly not fall below *Strickland*'s minimum competency requirements by deciding not to raise a meritless claim, and a petitioner would also not be prejudiced by his counsel's failure to do so.

But the merits of the underlying claim is only a part of the *Strickland* analysis. With unlimited time and the benefit of hindsight, a petitioner can come up with any number of potentially meritorious ineffective-assistance claims that he now wishes his collateral counsel had raised. However, a petitioner does not establish constitutionally defective performance simply by showing that (a) potentially meritorious claims existed and (b) his collateral counsel failed to raise those claims. *Murray*, 477 U.S. at 486, 106 S.Ct. at 2644 (“[T]he mere fact that counsel failed to recognize the factual or legal basis for a claim, or failed to raise the claim despite recognizing it, does not constitute cause for a procedural default.”). “Experienced advocates since time beyond memory have emphasized the importance of winnowing out weaker arguments on appeal and focusing on one central issue if possible, or at most on a few key issues.” FN60 *Jones v. Barnes*, 463 U.S. 745, 751–52, 103 S.Ct. 3308, 3313, 77 L.Ed.2d 987 (1983). “[A] *per se* rule that ... the professional advocate, [is not] allowed to decide what issues are to be pressed ... seriously undermines the ability of counsel to present the client's case in accord with counsel's professional evaluation.” *Id.* at 751, 103 S.Ct. at 3313.

FN60. “Even in a court that imposes no time or page limits ... [a] brief that raises every colorable issue runs the risk of burying good arguments ... in a verbal mound made up of strong and weak contentions.” *Barnes*, 463 U.S. at 753, 103 S.Ct. at 3313.

As we have explained, *Strickland* instructs courts to “indulge a strong presumption that counsel's conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance”—that counsel “rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment.” 466 U.S. at 689–90, 104 S.Ct. at 2065–66. To overcome this presumption, a petitioner must “establish that no competent counsel would have taken the action that his counsel did take.” *Chandler v. United States*, 218 F.3d 1305, 1315 (11th Cir.2000) (en banc).

Thus, to show that his habeas counsel failed to provide the level of representation required by *Strickland*, Hittson must show more than the mere fact they failed to raise potentially meritorious claims; he must show that no competent counsel, in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment, would have omitted those claims. Even assuming that the underlying ineffective-assistance claims are meritorious (which, as we explain in the following section, they are not), Hittson has not established that his state habeas counsel were incompetent for failing to raise them.

Hittson, 759 F.3d at 1262-63. (Emphasis added).

Unless Robertson can meet this demanding standard, the federal habeas courts will not address the claim *de novo*, but will find that the procedural default cannot be excused. Of course, the merits of procedurally defaulted claims were addressed, even prior to *Martinez*, in those cases where the inmate showed both cause for and prejudice from the procedural default, or if he could show that the failure to address “a constitutional violation has probably resulted in the conviction of one who is actually innocent.” *Murray*, 477 U.S. 478, 496, 106 S.Ct. 2678. So *de novo* review of defaulted claims is nothing new, only the manner for excusing the procedural default. *Cf. Barnes v. Thompson*, 58 F.3d 971, 983 (4th Cir. 1995) (“The majority finds that Barnes has procedurally defaulted his [*United States v. Bagley*, 473 U.S. 667 (1985)] claim in state court, and that he has shown neither cause nor prejudice for the default. Although the majority is mistaken as to those default issues, I concur in the result reached by the majority because I find that Barnes has failed to prove the materiality prong of his *Bagley* claim”) (Murnaghan, J., concurring in judgment).

Another misleading point in Robertson’s argument is that, although factual findings

relevant to procedurally defaulted claims are generally not governed by § 2254(d)(2) unless those facts also relate to a claim adjudicated on the merits by the state court, they are nevertheless entitled to a presumption of correctness and the petitioner must overcome that presumption by clear and convincing evidence because AEDPA requires such deference to state court factual findings. § 2254(e)(1). See, e.g., *Walker v. Kelly*, 589 F.3d 127, 131-32 (4th Cir. 2009); *Sivak v. Hardison*, 658 F.3d 898, 907 (9th Cir. 2011) (“The Idaho Supreme Court's application of § 19–2719(5) is premised on an erroneous factual determination, and Sivak has met his AEDPA burden of introducing clear and convincing evidence to rebut the presumption that the state court's determination is correct. See 28 U.S.C. § 2254(e)(1) (2006)”); *Crowe v. Hall*, 490 F.3d 840, 844-46 (11th Cir. 2007). *Peace v. Klem*, 335 Fed.Appx. 197, 198-99, 2009 WL 1833871, *1 (3rd Cir. 2009); *Love v. Roberts*, 259 Fed.Appx. 58, 63, 2007 WL 4293389 , *5 (10th Cir. 2007).

Robertson seems to suggest that this Court can eliminate or at least limit the impact that *Martinez* has on the litigation of ineffective assistance of trial counsel claims in federal court. Obviously, it cannot because as the Opinion in *Martinez* makes clear, and this Court's Order in *Kelly* correctly recognized, that it is merely an equitable exception to the general rule of *Coleman*. On the other hand, the creation of a right to file a successive PCR Application to litigate ineffective assistance of trial counsel claims that were not raised in the original PCR proceedings, as the result of ineffective assistance of the original collateral attorney, would not guarantee that a federal habeas corpus petitioner will not attempt to assert even different claims in federal habeas corpus from those raised in the successive application that were, in the petitioner's estimation, overlooked in the original PCR because of PCR counsel's ineffectiveness. While the State would assert that those claims are procedural defaulted, there is no incentive for inmates, particularly those under lengthy sentences, not to at least attempt to raise such claims and assert that *Martinez* permits them

to do so. In capital habeas corpus proceedings, death sentenced inmates are provided new counsel to represent them, as was done for Robertson. *See e.g., Juniper v. Davis*, 737 F.3d 288 (4th Cir. 2013). Most assuredly, death sentenced petitioners will attempt to raise such claims. *Cf. Martinez*, 132 S.Ct. at 1323-24 (Scalia, J., dissenting).

Additionally, if Robertson is truly correct in asserting that deferential merits review under 2254(d) is preferable because it will provide more deference to and thereby better insulate this Court's decisions in federal habeas corpus proceedings, that brings up the altogether obvious question: why would his current attorneys advocate that position? The answer is that they would not because they would be ineffective under *Strickland*.²² Instead, this is an attempt to further delay proceedings in this case.

3. **The creation of a right to file a successive application is unnecessary because this Court already permits exceptions to the bar generally proscribing successive applications in § 17-27-90 and *Aice v. State*, to ensure that all PCR applicants receive “one full bite of the apple;” the exceptions to § 17-27-90 and *Aice* recognized by this Court, although narrow, are sufficient to ensure fairness to all PCR applicants; and Robertson's argument that the Court should rethink *Aice* is both procedurally barred and fails to recognize that the bar on successive applications is statutory. Nor has Robertson presented any argument that § 17-27-90 is unconstitutional.**

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